IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE SSJ'S ISSUE TRUST

IN THE MATTER OF THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE SAMUEL S. JAKSICK, JR., FAMILY TRUST

TODD B. JAKSICK, Individually, as Co-Trustee of the Samuel S. Jaksick Jr. Family Trust, and as Trustee of the SSJ's Issue Trust; MICHAEL S. KIMMEL, Individually and as Co-Trustee of the Samuel S. Jaksick Jr. Family Trust; KEVIN RILEY, Individually, as Former Trustee of the Samuel S. Jaksick Jr. Family Trust, and as Trustee of the Wendy A. Jaksick 2012 BHC Family Trust; and STANLEY JAKSICK, Individually and as Co-Trustee of the Samuel S. Jaksick Jr. Family Trust,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1), because it is an appeal from a final judgment. This matter involved a bifurcated trial. The legal claims were resolved by a jury verdict entered on March 4, 2019. The remaining equitable claims were resolved by the District Court's Order After Equitable Trial, entered on March 17, 2020. Judgment was then entered on April 1, 2020. All of the parties timely filed various motions to alter or amend the judgment, and those motions were resolved in the District Court's Order Resolving Submitted Matters, entered on June 11, 2020. An Amended Judgment was entered on July 6, 2020. Todd B. Jaksick then filed his timely notice of appeal on July 10, 2020.

INTRODUCTION

Respondent/cross-appellant Wendy Jaksick ("Wendy") sued her brother, appellant/cross-respondent Todd Jaksick ("Todd"), and lost. Wendy asserted thirteen claims against Todd, and Wendy lost every claim she asserted against Todd, individually. As a result, Todd was awarded attorney fees against Wendy. The District Court characterized Wendy's lawsuit as "vexatious," "harassing," and "scorched-earth litigation," that was "influenced more by animus and avarice than by a desire for balanced justice," and that resulted in Wendy "overreaching" and "swinging for the fences" in seeking damages against Todd. 11 Trustees' Joint Appendix ("TJA") 2098-2100.¹ Yet, the District Court then punished Todd, individually, and not Wendy for the litigation.

Without identifying what Todd, individually, did wrong and without identifying any specific injustice to Wendy, the District Court (1) ordered Todd to disgorge all trustee fees since the inception of his trusteeship, (2) awarded Wendy \$300,000 in attorney fees, and (3) required Todd to repay 25% of the legal fees paid to Maupin, Cox & LeGoy, the law firm that represented Todd and two of his co-trustees, for that firms' representation of Todd and his co-trustees. Todd's co-trustees prevailed on *every* claim Wendy asserted against them.

¹ A copy of the District Court's order is attached in the Addendum to this brief.

The District Court's order is an abuse of its discretion to order disgorgement of trustee fees and award attorney fees under NRS 153.031(3).² Under NRS 153.031(3), if a trustee is found to have breached his fiduciary duty, the court may order disgorgement or award fees "if the court determines that such additional relief is appropriate to redress or avoid an injustice." NRS 153.031(3) codifies the general rules on trustee fee disgorgement and payment of beneficiary attorney fees found in *Restatement (Second) of Torts*, § 243 and *Restatement (Third) of Trusts*, § 88, respectively. As those sections explain, disgorgement of trustee fees is not a punitive remedy and should not be applied merely to punish a trustee. *Restatement (Second) of Torts*, § 243 at cmt. a. Furthermore, fees should only be awarded to a beneficiary if the litigation benefits the trusts. *Restatement (Third) of Trusts*, § 88 at cmt. d.

In this bifurcated action, Wendy prevailed on only one of her legal claims that were tried before the jury. Out of four claims, asserted against four trustees, in both their individual and trustee capacity, the jury only found that Todd, as trustee, breached his fiduciary duty to Wendy and awarded Wendy nominal damages in the amount of \$15,000. As a result of the jury's general verdict, the District Court then properly declined to grant Wendy any of her requested equitable relief or to entertain Wendy's challenges to various documents because these arguments had

² A copy of NRS 153.031 is attached in the Addendum to this brief.

been tried to the jury and rejected. Yet, the District Court then myopically granted Wendy her request to disgorge trustee fees and award attorney fees under NRS 153.031(3) without explaining *what* injustice Wendy suffered by losing her "scorched-earth litigation" that would justify punishing Todd, individually. The District Court's order should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in ordering appellant/cross-respondent Todd to disgorge all trustee fees earned from the inception of his trusteeships?
- 2. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in awarding \$300,000 in attorney fees to Wendy?
- 3. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in requiring Todd to personally repay the Family Trust and Issue Trust for 25% of all attorney fees paid to Maupin, Cox & LeGoy for its representation of Todd, as Trustee of the SSJ Issue Trust and Co-Trustee of the Samuel S. Jaksick Jr. Family Trust, and for its representation of appellants/cross-respondents Michael Kimmel and Kevin Riley, as Co-Trustees of the Samuel S. Jaksick Jr. Family Trust?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appeal arises from a district court order resolving equitable claims following a bifurcated jury and bench trial.³ The underlying litigation arose from disputes over the administration of the estate of Samuel Jaksick ("Sam"). Prior to his death, Sam created two trusts: (1) the Samuel S. Jaksick Jr. Family Trust (the "Family Trust"); and (2) the SSJ's Issue Trust (the "Issue Trust"). Todd, Sam's son, is the trustee of the Issue Trust, and was Co-Trustee of the Family Trust along with Sam's other son, appellant/cross-respondent Stanley Jaksick ("Stan"). Appellant/cross-respondent Kevin Riley ("Riley"), Sam's accountant, was initially co-trustee. He resigned, and Todd appointed appellant/cross-respondent Michael Kimmel ("Kimmel") as Co-Trustee of the Family Trust.

Sam's daughter, Wendy, was never involved with the trusts due to her troubled personal and financial background. After Todd and Kimmel requested that the District Court approve various trust administration matters, Wendy initiated what the District Court described as "scorched-earth litigation grounded in entitlement and limited self-awareness." 11 Trustees' Joint Appendix ("TJA") 2099. Wendy asserted thirteen counterclaims against Todd, Stan, Kimmel and Riley, both in their capacities as trustees and in their individual capacities. Wendy's four legal counterclaims were heard in a three-week jury trial. Although

³ The legal claims were tried to the jury, and the equitable claims were subsequently tried in a bench trial.

the jury found, on a general verdict form, that Todd had breached his fiduciary duty to Wendy as trustee, the jury found against Wendy on all other claims against all other parties. The jury awarded Wendy \$15,000 in damages, which is substantially less than the \$80,000,000 that Wendy requested at trial.

Following the jury trial, the District Court held a bench trial on the remaining equitable claims. Wendy's factual bases for her equitable claims were the same as those supporting her legal claims, and the District Court correctly found that it could not grant Wendy her requested equitable relief without violating the parties' Seventh Amendment right to a jury trial because the jury had largely rejected Wendy's position. Thus, among other things, the District Court declined to grant Wendy relief concerning trust accountings, alleged document improprieties, indemnification agreements, and agreements and consents to proposed action because the jury had rejected Wendy's fraud claims involving these documents.

Todd, as an individual, prevailed on all of Wendy's claims against him.

Confusingly, however, the District Court then decided to punish Todd individually because the jury found that he had breached his fiduciary duties as trustee. Despite finding that the jury approved the accountings, the District Court relied upon those accountings to order Todd to disgorge all of his trustee fees since the inception of

his trusteeship.⁴ The District Court also relied upon Wendy's arguments regarding "document improprieties and notarial misconduct," that the District Court conceded the jury rejected, to award Wendy \$300,000 in attorney fees without explaining where that number came from, as no billing statement or other affidavit was ever provided by Wendy's attorneys, nor any specific amount in fees requested. Finally, the District Court also ordered Todd to repay the Family for 25% of the fees paid to Maupin, Cox & LeGoy for its representation of the trustees from Todd's personal funds. Following motions to alter or amend the judgment by all parties, which were all largely denied, the District Court clarified that Todd must repay the fees paid for representation of Todd *and* Kimmel and Riley, despite the fact that Kimmel and Riley completely prevailed on all of Wendy's claims against them. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. GENERAL FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. THE PARTIES

This lawsuit arises from disputes over the administration of Sam's estate. Sam had three children: (1) Stan; (2) Wendy; and (3) Todd. 1 TJA 205. While

⁴ A copy of the District Court's Order After Equitable Trial is attached in the Addendum to this brief.

both Stan and Todd were involved in Sam's business enterprises, Todd and Sam were particularly close. 7 TJA 1290.

Sam's estate contained interests in golf courses and residential real estate developments, which Stan primarily oversaw and managed, and various other real property assets including ranches, water rights, and interests in various entities, which Todd primarily managed and oversaw. 1 TJA 63, 292 Sam also owned and resided in a waterfront home at Lake Tahoe (the "Tahoe House"). *Id.* at 236.

Unlike Stan and Todd, Wendy was not involved with her father's businesses or assets. 11 TJA 2097. Sam intentionally chose not to include Wendy in the management of his assets and estate because Wendy has a troubled past replete with both personal and financial issues. *Id*.

Sam tragically died in a drowning accident in April 2013. 1 TJA 284. Prior to his death, Sam had established the two trusts which are the subject of this appeal, namely, the Family Trust and the Issue Trust. *Id.* at 11-55, 220-274.

B. THE FAMILY TRUST

Sam created the Family Trust in 2003, and amended and restated it in 2006. *Id.* at 220. Under the Family Trust, Sam was the sole trustee from 2003 until his death in 2013. *Id.* at 242. The primary beneficiaries of the Family Trust,

following the death of Sam and his wife,⁵ were Stan, Todd and Wendy. *Id.* at 220-241.

Under Family Trust, Stan, Todd and Wendy originally were each allocated one-third of the Family Trust assets. *Id.* However, because Wendy "has received substantial sums of money and/or property from [Sam and/or entities Sam owns]," Sam reduced Wendy's share by \$1,500,000. *Id.* at 233.

Sam designated Stan, Todd and non-party Ray Benetti as his successor cotrustees under the Family Trust. *Id.* at 242. Wendy was never designated as trustee. *See id.* The Family Trust's assets, at Sam's death, consisted of various cash assets, Sam's office building, several substantial notes receivable, and interests in multiple business entities. *Id.* at 292.

In 2006, the Family Trust also owned the Tahoe House. *Id.* at 236. The Family Trust originally granted Stan, Todd and Wendy the right to use the Tahoe House after Sam's death. *Id.* If the Tahoe House was sold, then Stan, Todd and Wendy were to split the proceeds equally. *Id.* at 237. By the date of Sam's death, as discussed below, the Tahoe House had been transferred out of the Family Trust.

⁵ Although Sam's wife survived his death, she died prior to this litigation.

C. THE ISSUE TRUST

Sam created the Issue Trust in 2007, as an irrevocable trust, and appointed Todd as trustee. *Id.* at 11, 48. The beneficiaries are Todd, his two children, Stan, his three children, Wendy, her two children, and Wendy's grandchild. *Id.* at 2, 11.

The Issue Trust is a "dynasty" trust intended to hold and preserve valuable family real estate for the use and enjoyment of multiple generations of the Jaksick family. *Id.* at 2. Although the Issue Trust allows the beneficiaries to use the property it owns, it prohibits distribution of income or principal to the beneficiaries. *Id.* at 2-3.

At the time of Sam's death, the Issue Trust owned a 49% interest in entities that owned a family ranch, and was the beneficiary of Sam's \$6,000,000 life insurance policy. *Id.* at 63. By the time of trial, as discussed below, the Issue Trust had acquired a 51% interest in Incline TSS, Ltd. ("Incline TSS), the entity that currently owns the Tahoe House.

D. SAM'S SUBSEQUENT ESTATE PLANNING

By 2012, Sam had changed his estate plan in several significant ways.

All of Sam's changes were done upon the advice of, and were drafted by, Sam's attorney, Pierre Hascheff, Esq ("Hascheff"). 7 TJA 1290-1300. The notable changes are: (1) indemnification agreements that Sam entered into with Todd and

Stan in 2008 (the "Indemnification Agreements;" (2) the transfer of the Tahoe House to Incline TSS; and (3) the Second Amendment to the Family Trust.

1. The Indemnification Agreements

The recession was not kind to Sam's real estate holdings, and as a result, Sam desired to protect Todd and Stan from the personal guarantees Todd and Stan had executed on behalf of various trust assets. 3 TJA 483-96. Thus, in 2008, Sam entered into the Indemnification Agreements with both Todd and Stan, in which Sam, as trustee of the Family Trust, agreed to indemnify Todd and Stan to the fullest extent possible from their obligations on trust assets. *Id*.

2. The Tahoe House

Because the Tahoe House was a valuable asset, Sam also desired to create additional creditor protection for his home. 9 TJA 1556. Thus, on November 1, 2010, Sam, as Trustee of the Family Trust, granted Incline TSS an option to purchase the Tahoe House. *Id.* In 2010, Incline TSS was owned by two of Todd's family trusts, and Todd was the managing member. *See* 1 TJA 116.

Under the option agreement, Incline TSS agreed to pay the Family Trust \$7,250,000 for the purchase of the Tahoe House, which was slightly above its appraised value of \$6,500,00, and slightly more than the \$6,300,000 mortgage on the home. 9 TJA 1556. Hascheff, who drafted the Option Agreement, recorded it on behalf of Sam in February 2011. *Id*.

In November 2011, Sam, as Trustee of the Family Trust, transferred the Tahoe House to SSJ, LLC, an entity wholly-owned by the Family Trust. *Id.* at 1558. The transfer deed was recorded in December 2011. *Id.* Sam, as Trustee of the Family Trust, then assigned the Family Trust's rights under the option agreement to SSJ, LLC, and that assignment was recorded in February 2012. *Id.*

In December 2012, Sam underwent open heart surgery. 4 TJA 723. Thus, he engaged in a flurry of estate planning during that month to ensure that his estate was in order should something occur. Incline TSS made several option payments before ultimately exercising its option to purchase the Tahoe House on December 17, 2012. *See* 4 TJA 723. As a result, Incline TSS assumed the mortgage on the Tahoe House. 1 TJA 114. The transfer deed was recorded on December 28, 2012. *See* 4 TJA 723.

3. The Second Amendment to the Family Trust

Also in December 2012, Sam finalized his estate plan for the Family Trust under the Second Amendment.⁶ Again drafted and prepared by Hascheff, the Second Amendment changed the Family Trust in multiple ways. 7 TJA 1292

First, Sam changed successor trustees, and replaced Ray Benetti with Riley. 2 TJA 277. Stan and Todd remained as Riley's co-trustees. *Id*.

11

⁶ The First Amendment to the Family Trust was terminated by the Second Amendment.

Second, Sam gifted Stan ten percent of the Family Trust's interest in Toiyabe Investment Co., an entity which Stan was (and is) heavily involved in managing. *Id.* at 278.

Third, Sam gifted Stan and Todd each 6% of the Family Trust's shares of Pioneer Group, Inc. ("Pioneer") stock. *Id.* The Family Trust owned 36% of Pioneer, which in turned owned and operated a casino. *See id.* Sam gifted the stock to Stan and Todd because they qualified for gaming licenses. *See id.*Because of Wendy's troubled past, Sam did not believe Wendy could obtain a gaming license, and so he did not gift Wendy any Pioneer stock. *See id.* The Family Trust retained the remaining 25% of Pioneer stock. *Id.*

Fourth, Sam eliminated the provisions of the Family Trust regarding the Tahoe House and specifically noted that "[s]hould the Lake Tahoe home be sold prior to [Sam's] death, the Trust provisions with respect to the Lake Tahoe home shall no longer apply." *Id.* at 279.

Fifth, Sam changed the Family Trust's dispositions to Wendy. He eliminated the \$1,500,000 deduction from Wendy's share, but prohibited her beneficial interest from being distributed to her outright. *Id.* Instead, \$100,000 of

Wendy's share was to be placed into a trust for her daughter, and twenty percent of Wendy's share was to be placed into a trust for Wendy's son.⁷ *Id*.

E. TRUST ADMINISTRATION FOLLOWING SAM'S DEATH.

Upon Sam's unexpected death in April 2013, Todd, Stan and Riley became successor Co-Trustees. 1 TJA 205. Riley resigned in July 2013,⁸ and Stan and Todd jointly administered the Family Trust until December 2016, when Todd appointed Kimmel as a third Co-Trustee. *Id.* The following are the trust administration actions that primarily formed the basis of the underlying litigation:

1. The Pioneer Gaming Stock

In 2013, after the Pioneer shareholders decided to sell the casino, Todd, Stan, Kevin and Wendy devised a method by which Wendy could potentially obtain funds from the sale despite the fact that she did not have a gaming license. 2 TJA 473. Todd and Stan, who had already been transferred 12% (6% each) of the Family Trust's Pioneer stock agreed to split the Family Trust's remaining 25% interest in Pioneer between their subtrusts. *Id.* at 474. If Wendy obtained a gaming license, the 25% of Pioneer stock would be re-allocated so that all three trusts each contained one-third of the 25%. *Id.* If Wendy did not obtain a gaming

⁷ Sam also created \$100,000 trusts for each of Todd's and Stan's children, to be distributed from Todd's and Stan's respective shares of the Family Trust. 2 TJA 279.

⁸ Riley remained as accountant for the trusts, and as trustee of other subtrusts created for Wendy's benefit, which may be subject to the cross-appeal, but are not relevant to the issues in this appeal.

license, the Family Trust would shift assets in the amount of the value of one-third of the 25% of Pioneer stock to Wendy's subtrust to compensate her in kind. *Id.*Wendy, Stan, Todd, and Kevin all signed an agreement and consent to proposed action (an "ACPA") agreeing to this course of action. *Id.* at 475-77. Wendy never obtained a gaming license.

2. The Tahoe House

When Sam died, the Issue Trust received \$6,000,000 from his life insurance policy. 1 TJA 114. Because the Issue Trust prohibits cash distributions, Todd, as Trustee, determined that the \$6,000,000 could be used to purchase a majority interest in Incline TSS, the entity that now wholly-owned the Tahoe House. *See id.* This would bring the Tahoe House back into the Issue Trust, while infusing badly-needed cash into the Family Trust.

On June 5, 2013, Todd, as trustee, beneficiary, and manager/member of Incline TSS, Stan and Wendy all entered into an ACPA in which they agreed to use the \$6,000,000 to reinvest in the Tahoe House through Incline TSS. *Id.* at 114-116. The ACPA stated that Incline TSS was the owner of the Tahoe House, that the \$6,000,000 would be used to purchase a membership interest in Incline TSS, and that the \$6,000,000 would be applied by Incline TSS to the promissory note Incline TSS owed to SSJ, LLC (a Family Trust asset) which was currently

outstanding in the amount of \$7,103,255.32. *See id.* As a result, the Issue Trust became a 54% owner of Incline TSS.⁹ *Id.*

3. Loans to the Family Trust

On September 28, 2014, Wendy, Stan, Wendy's adult daughter Alexi Smrt, and Todd all entered into two different ACPAs which allowed the Issue Trust to loan money to the Family Trust to cover the Family Trust's operational costs. 1 TJA 118-128. Todd, Wendy, and Stan then also concurrently entered into ACPAs from the Family Trust, in which they authorized the Family Trust's acceptance of the loan proceeds from the Issue Trust, and approved the Family Trust's entry of a promissory notes and security agreements in favor of the Issue Trust on the loans. 3 TJA 515-535.

4. Use of the Indemnification Agreement

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