NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE 

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons and 

entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a) and must be disclosed.  These representations 

are made in order that the judges of this court may evaluate possible disqualification 

or recusal. 

1. Wendy Jaksick (“Wendy”) is an individual and not an entity.  

2. Spencer & Johnson, PLLC and Mark J. Connot of Fox Rothschild LLP 

appeared on behalf of Wendy in the District Court. Marquis Aurbach Coffing and 

Spencer & Johnson, PLLC represent Wendy in this Court.  Mark J. Connot of Fox 

Rothschild LLP previously represented Wendy in this Court. 

Dated this 23rd day of August, 2021.

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

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

“[I]t will not be presumed that the district court erred.”  Schwartz v. Estate of 

Greenspun, 881 P.2d 638, 644 (1994). The Trustees bear the affirmative burden of 

proving that the District Court abused its discretion. See, e.g., Weber v. State, 119 

P.3d 107, 119 (2005) (“[A]n appellant carries the heavy burden of showing that the 

court abused [its] discretion.”); Cook v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., LLC, 194 P.3d 

1214, 1219 (2008) (“[P]rejudice must be established in order to reverse a district 

court judgment; it is not presumed.”).  

Trustees cannot satisfy their difficult burden. The award of $300,000 to 

Wendy’s counsel for attorneys’ fees was based on the Court’s consideration and 

analysis of the Brunzell factors and was confirmed by the Court to be inseparable 

from the Court’s entire analysis in resolving the equitable disputes. TJA2094-2118; 

TJA3642-3643. After Wendy’s counsel incurred $1,726,072.74 in attorneys’ fees 
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and costs through June 30, 2019, the award of $300,000.00 was not an abuse of 

discretion. TJA1465, lines 6-7.  

 The Jury found Todd breached his fiduciary duties. TJA2101; TJA2108; 

TJA0954-0957. The Court refused to approve the accountings, ACPAs and 

Indemnification Agreement that were central to the Trustees’ Petitions and 

administration of the Trusts and that formed the basis of Wendy’s and Stan’s claims. 

TJA2108; TJA2137, line 29-TJA2138, line 1. The Court’s equitable remedies 

denying Todd trustee compensation and denying his ability to utilize trust funds to 

defend his breaches were appropriate and within the Court’s power and discretion. 

 The denial of fees and costs to Kimmel and Riley was appropriate and not an 

abuse of discretion because, as the Court confirmed Kimmel and Riley failed to 

establish they were entitled to such awards. TJA3641-3642; TJA2101. All their fees 

and costs were paid by the Family Trust, and they could not segregate any fees and 

costs from those incurred in common representation of the aligned Trustees. 

TJA2142, lines 24-25; TJA3641-3642. 

VII. LEGAL ARGUMENT  

A. AWARD OF $300,000 NOT ABUSE OF DISCRETION. 

1. Standard of review. 

Nevada’s Appellate Courts generally review an award of attorney’s fees for 

an abuse of discretion. See, e.g., Thomas v. City of North Las Vegas, 127 P.3d 1057, 
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1063 (2006); Frazier v. Drake, 357 P.3d 365, 372 (Nev. Ct. App. 2015). “In Nevada, 

‘the method upon which a reasonable fee is determined is subject to the discretion 

of the court,’ which ‘is tempered only by reason and fairness.’” Shuette v. Beazer 

Homes Holdings Corp., 124 P.3d 530, 548-49 (2005).   

2. Authority – Abuse of Discretion. 

“An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or 

capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason.” Jackson v. State, 17 P.3d 

998, 1000 (2001); see also MB Am. Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 

(2016) (“An abuse of discretion can occur when the district court bases its decision 

on a clearly erroneous factual determination or it disregards controlling law.”); State 

v. Hambright, 388 P.3d 613, 619 (Kan. Ct. App. 2017) (“A judicial action constitutes 

an abuse of discretion if the action is (1) arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable; (2) 

based on an error of law; or (3) based on an error of fact.”) (emphasis added); State 

v. Montiel, 122 P.3d 571, 575 (Utah 2005) (“A failure to exercise discretion is 

generally encompassed within the meaning of abuse of discretion.”). 

3. Argument. 

The Order After Equitable Trial details the history and complexity of the 

two-year litigation: 

The file materials compose more than 17,000 pages. … 

[P]arties produced tens of thousands of documents … 

marked 677 exhibits for the two trials, … The 
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substantive papers … filed since the jury’s verdict 

compose more than 4,000 pages. 

 

TJA2095-2096. It also confirms Sam’s Estate “is exceedingly complex because he 

used tens of different corporate entities as holding companies for his wealth,” and 

“partnered with non-family business entities.” TJA2124. And the “complexity of 

Sam’s Estate warranted extraordinary disclosures, explanations, and compliance 

with discovery rules,” and that “[t]he trusts before this Court are complex because 

of the multiple layers of entity and fractional ownership...[t]hey are further 

complicated by fluid and often unknown values. TJA2100, lines 12-13; TJA2106, 

lines 9-11.  

 The Order After Equitable Trial details the financial and documentary 

complexity involved and substantial efforts expended fighting to obtain discovery: 

[G]iven the financial and documentary complexity, 

discovery delays and disputes … untimely accountings, 

incomplete discovery, and amounts in controversy… 

TJA2113.  

There were significant discovery disputes… This 

Court also ordered the production of disputed 

discovery. Discovery continued to the very eve of trial 

and Wendy was still attempting to discern her 

beneficial interests when trial began. 

 

TJA2100.  

Wendy detailed grounds supporting her attorney’s fees and various reasons 

her attorney’s fees were so substantial in Wendy Jaksick’s Brief of Opening 
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Arguments in the Equitable Claims Trial (“Wendy’s Opening Brief”).  TJA1464–

1465. The Order After Equitable Trial confirms the litigation involved “tens of 

millions in controversy,” “at least seven lawyers zealously advocating for their 

clients,” and “several million dollars of fees.” TJA2098; TJA2100, lines 13-17. 

 Finally, the Order After Equitable Trial confirms Todd breached his 

fiduciary duties to Wendy. TJA2101. Considering the above, the Court addressed 

attorney’s fees beginning on page 16 of the Order After Equitable Trial: 

This Court’s discretionary resolution of the fees 

requests is bound by all facts of record and influenced 

by the entirety of the pre-trial, legal, and equitable 

proceedings (including the settlement agreement 

between Todd and Stan) and uncertainties created by 

notarial malfeasance. 

 

TJA2110. 

 The Court acknowledged the “decision regarding Wendy and Todd’s fees 

(both as trustee and individually) are more complicated,” and “[t]here are 

competing facts and legal principals, which this Court analyzes in the aggregate 

and not in isolation.” Id. Following 6 pages of analysis, the Court confirmed its 

consideration of the Brunzell factors finding the fees sought by Todd individually 

were reasonable considering his “experienced and effective attorneys, duration and 

scope of litigation, and the result obtained.” TJA2114 (emphasis added). “For these 
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reasons” the Court also awarded $300,000 to Wendy’s attorneys for prevailing 

against Todd. TJA2114, line 23; TJA21145. 

 The Court subsequently entered the Order Resolving Submitted Matters 

denying and detailing the basis for its denial of Trustees’ request to remove the 

$300,000 awarded to Wendy’s attorneys based on the same arguments Trustees 

now make on appeal.  TJA3642-3643.  

District courts may take “almost any sensible approach or apply any logical 

method to calculate ‘a reasonable fee’ to award as long as the Court weighs the 

Brunzell factors.”  O’Connell v. Wynn Las Vegas, LLC, 429 P.3d 664, 672 (Nev. 

Ct. App. 2018) (citing Shuette, 121 Nev. at 548-549). “In this manner, whichever 

method the court ultimately uses, the result will prove reasonable as long as the 

court provides sufficient reasoning and findings in support of its ultimate 

determination.” Id. at 671.   

 A court may determine and award a “reasonable fee” without considering or 

reviewing the contract for services or billing records. O'Connell, 134 Nev. at 670 

(“Nevada law does not require billing records with every attorney fees request.”); 

Cooke v. Gove, 114 P.2d 87, 88 (1941) (upholding fees award based on “reasonable 

value” of attorney’s services even though the case was taken on a contingency 

basis with no formal agreement).  In the Cooke v. Gove, the Court noted the record 

showed the reasonable fee was based on the trial court’s evaluation of “the 
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reasonable value of plaintiff’s services from all the facts and circumstances” after 

the court considered how the plaintiff’s “work, thought and skill contributed” to 

the successful outcome. Id. In determining a reasonable fee, the “district courts can 

look at the facts before them, such as what occurred at trial and the record a party 

produced in litigation the matter.”  O'Connell, 429 P.3d at 672. 

A review of the Order After Equitable Trial, which was incorporated into 

the Judgment and the Order Resolving Submitted Matters, confirms the Court 

considered and applied the Brunzell factors in making the $300,000.00 award. The 

Court’s Order After Equitable Trial states the “Court elects to make general 

findings, which are substantially supported by the evidence of record,” because 

“[i]t cannot resolve the arguments in minutia.”  TJA2096. It further confirmed the 

“Court’s discretionary resolution of the fees requests is bound by all facts of record 

and influenced by the entirety of the pre-trial, legal and equitable proceedings 

(including the settlement agreement between Todd and Stan) and uncertainties 

created by notarial malfeasance.” TJA2110 (emphasis added). Finally, the Court 

states, “[t]he attorneys’ fees provisions in this order reflect the entirety of this 

Court’s intentions regarding fees.” TJA2118.  

The Court’s analysis and support detailed in the Order After Equitable Trial 

resulting in its conclusion the fees sought by Todd individually were reasonable 

considering his “experienced and effective attorneys, duration and scope of 
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litigation, and the result obtained,” is the same detail and analysis for its 

$300,000.00 award to Wendy’s attorneys. The Court has extensive first-hand 

knowledge of the qualities, abilities and skill of Wendy’s attorneys having 

reviewed the many pleadings and extensive briefing and presided over numerous 

hearings and the two-week jury trial. This was a hard-fought case. The Court’s 

Order After Equitable Trial confirms the complexity of the subject of the litigation 

and its voluminous documentation, the difficulty and intricacy of the work, time 

and skill required of Wendy’s attorneys preparing for and trying Wendy’s claims 

and, finally, confirms that Wendy’s attorneys were successful in prevailing in their 

claim against Todd for breach of fiduciary duties.  

The award of attorney’s fees to Wendy’s counsel, who had incurred 

$1,365,024.00 in fees and expenses in the amount of $361,048.74 through June 30, 

2019, is supported and inseparable from the Court’s entire analysis of the case and 

the Brunzell factors and was not an abuse of discretion. TJA3642-3643; TJA1465, 

lines 6-7.  

The award of attorney’s fees to Wendy’s counsel is supported and 

inseparable from the Court’s entire analysis of the case and the Brunzell factors. 

TJA3642-3643. Accordingly, the award to Wendy’s counsel, who had incurred 

$1,365,024.00 in attorney’s fees and expenses and costs in the amount of 
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$361,048.74 through June 30, 2019, was not an abuse of discretion. TJA1465, lines 

6-7.  

B. (1) THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS 

DISCRETION BY ORDERING TODD TO DISGORGE 

TRUSTEE FEES.  

(2) THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS 

DISCRETION BY REQUIRING TODD, INDIVIDUALLY, TO 

REPAY THE FAMILY AND ISSUE TRUSTS 25% OF 

ATTORNEY FEES PAID TO MAUPIN, COX & LEGOY FOR ITS 

REPRESENTATION OF TODD, AS TRUSTEE OF THE ISSUE 

TRUST AND FAMILY TRUSTS. 

1. Standard of review. 

This Court reviews a district court’s decision granting or denying an equitable 

remedy for an abuse of discretion. Am. Sterling Bank v. Johnny Mgmt. LV, Inc., 245 

P.3d 535, 538–39 (2010) (citing Douglas Disposal Inc. v. Wee Haul, LLC., 170 P.3d 

508, 512 (2007)). “An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is 

arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason.”  Jackson,17 P.3d 

at 1000.  

2. Argument. 

Todd argues awarding equitable relief against him violated his constitutional 

rights because the Court disregarded the Jury Verdict alleging it was punitive and 

resembles an award of damages. He also argues the equitable remedies ordered 
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against him cannot be damages because the award of consequential damages was the 

jury’s responsibility and the jury awarded $15,000. 

The Court made clear in its Pre-Trial Order that this lawsuit involved a trial 

of legal claims to the jury and a trial of equitable claims to the bench. TJA0949-

0953. The Court based this procedure on authority confirming in Nevada, the 

constitutional right to a jury trial does not extend to equitable matters. TJA0951, 

lines 3-7 (citing Harom v. Tanner Motor Tours, 377 P.2d 622, 630 (1963); Musgrave 

v. Casey, 235 P.2d 729, 731 (1951) (“It is elemental that in a suit in equity the 

judgment or decree must be based upon finding of the court rather than a jury 

verdict.”). The Pre-Trial Order specifically confirmed the “equitable issues,” would 

be tried to the bench during the trial of the equitable claims. TJA0952, line 18-

TJA0953, line 16. Todd did not object to the procedure outlined in Pre-Trial Order 

and did not object to the procedure during trial.  

At the conclusion of the trial, the Jury was provided a Verdict form including 

only the following claims: 

a) Breach of Fiduciary Duty, 

b) Civil Conspiracy and Aiding and Abetting, 

c) Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary Duty, and 

d) Fraud. 
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TJA0955-0956. If the Jury found for Wendy on any of the above claims, the Verdict 

included a question for awarding Wendy damages. TJA0957. The Jury was not asked 

and did not consider the claims for equitable relief.  Nevada authority is clear, that 

granting and fashioning appropriate equitable relief is exclusively for the Court. 

Harom, 377 P.2d at 630; Musgrave, 235 P.2d at 731.  

Equitable remedies are not damages (or punitive damages). In the context of 

trusts, the purpose of equitable remedies is to restore the trust to what it would have 

been had the breach or mismanagement not occurred. RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF 

TRUSTS § 100 (2012).  “A court of equity, having jurisdiction over the administration 

of trust, will give the beneficiaries of a trust such remedies as are necessary for the 

protection of their interests.” Scott on Trusts (Fourth Edition), §199 (emphasis 

added). The focus of equitable remedies is the protection and restoration of the trust 

and the beneficiaries’ interest in the trust, not the recovery of compensation by 

beneficiaries in their personal capacities. In fact, the Court may grant equitable relief 

even in cases where there are no damages. Barnes v. Sabron, 10 Nev. 217 (1875) 

(where, in an equitable action, a clear violation by a defendant of plaintiff’s right is 

shown, to be entitled to equitable relief, a plaintiff need not show he suffered actual 

damage); Burrow v. Arce, 997 S.W.2d 229, 245 (Tex. 1999); see also RESTATEMENT 

(THIRD) OF AGENCY § 801 cmt. d (2006). 
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NRS 153.031 permits the court to redress a breach of trust using its “full 

equitable powers.”  See Diotallevi v. Sierra Dev. Co., 591 P.2d 270, 272 (1979).  The 

Supreme Court has expressly stated District Courts have full discretion to fashion 

and grant equitable remedies, and courts’ decisions granting, denying and fashioning 

equitable remedies will only be set aside on a finding of abuse of discretion.  See 

Am. Sterling Bank, 245 P.3d at 538. 

Nevada specifically provides the following equitable remedies when a breach 

is found, “the court may, in its discretion, order any or all of the following additional 

relief if the court determines such additional relief is appropriate to redress or avoid 

an injustice: (i) order a reduction in the trustee’s compensation[, and] (ii) order the 

trustee to pay to the petitioner or any other party all reasonable costs incurred by the 

party to adjudicate the affairs of the trust pursuant to this section, including, without 

limitation, reasonable attorney’s fees.”  NRS 153.031(3). The court may hold the 

trustee personally liable for the payment of such costs when the trustee was negligent 

in the performance of or breached his or her fiduciary duties. NRS 153.031(3)(b). 

After Todd initiated this litigation to attempt to squirm out of liability for his 

bad acts and self-serving administration of the Trusts and to confirm the 

enforceability of the Purported Accountings, the ACPAs, the Indemnification 

Agreement, Wendy objected and sought to enforce her rights as a beneficiary to 

remedy his breaches.  The jury agreed Todd had breached his fiduciary duties. 
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TJA0954-000957; TJA2108, lines 16-17. The Court refused to confirm Todd’s

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